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THE LADY CHAPEL AT ELY:
ITS PLACE IN THE ENGLISH DECORATED STYLE

Nicola Coldstream

The Lady chapel at Ely is a glorious wreck: bare of almost all it once contained, it
stands to the north of the cathedral choir, sunless, chilly and mute. Yer it was once,
and in many ways still is, one of the triumphs of the English Decorated style, and,
like its fellow Decorated buildings, has not until recently been accorded the attention
it deserves. Even now, its significance escapes, for scholarly preoccupations with the
more formal aspects of architectural history have led us away from the really
interesting question: what the Decorated style was all about.

Fourteenth-century architecture in England is famous for its use of patterned
vaulting, the ogee arch and flowing tracery, and daring architectural trapeze acts. It
is a style of fantasy and fun. Sir Nikolaus Pevsner’s lyrical descriptions of such
buildings as the cathedrals of Bristol and Ely in the Buildings of England<:> have
done as much as anything to invite us to celebrate its marvellous virtuosity. But the
Decorated has puzzled scholars with its disparateness, its resistance to classification.
Perceptions of the style as a whole have been further distorted by the manner in
which, since the early 1950s, the discussion has been conducted. The main problem,
of which all the others are seen as a part, is that of the beginnings of the
Perpendicular style: while the bulbous heavings of the Decorated were at their most
exuberant, as in such monuments as the Percy tomb at Beverley (P1. 1), a cuckoo
appeared in the nest in the form of Gloucester cathedral transept and choir (Pl. 2)
and inaugurated a style of thin rectilinear panelling, which had no apparent
reference to contemporary taste. The two main supplementary questions, intricately
linked with the first, have been the extent and nature of French influence, and
whether the Decorated and incipient Perpendicular are inventions of the Court at
Westminster or of the provinces <z>>,

In all this discussion, especially of the origins of Perpendicular, the Decorated
style has suffered immeasurably. Scholars have plundered the latter for signs of the
former, and ceased to consider Decorated in its own right. In recent years only two
books have been devoted to the Decorated style as such, and of these, Henning
Bock’s Der Decorated Style<s> is at least partly concerned with a study of the origins
of Perpendicular. Both Bock and Jean Bony in his English Decorated Style<+> adopt
the same general approach, concentrating heavily on the architectural elements,
analysing elevations, vaults and window tracery. Bock saw developments as regional,
while Bony, transcending regions, saw the Decorated in some respects as a creative
reaction to French Court architecture of the thirteenth century.



The method which confines itself largely to formal analysis is all very well, but
over the vears it has become obvious that it does not take us very far. Although
Decorated inevitably has its structural elements it is more than just architecture. It is
a mass of sculptured and painted decoration directed towards one over-riding
purpose. The nature of the style was recognised by scholars of the turn of the
century<s>, and later by the late Dame Joan Evans, whose English An
1307-1461<s>, published in 1949, has long been neglected to the great peril of the
subject. Alone of post-war writers, Dame Joan saw the Decorated style as a whole.
The younger generation swept her approach aside in favour of minute analysis of
detail, which meant, paradoxically, that they did not really bother to look at the style,
nor, which is more serious, have they asked themselves what the style was for. A
phenomenon like Decorated, luscious, self-conscious and extremely expensive to
produce, does not just grow: it has a purpose. If we examine the Lady chapel at Ely
and related buildings we can not only see what the purpose was, but we can also see
that the problems outlined earlier are easier to solve if they are looked at in context.

The Ely Lady chapel does not représent the beginnings of the Decorated style.
These are, surprisingly for the medieval period, agreed upon by evervone. A phase of
development from the mid-thirteenth century was boosted and transformed by
specific developments in the 1290s. Westminster Abbey introduced the use of
surface decoration together with large traceried windows, so that the whole wall,
vault and in some buildings the floor, were covered in pattern and colour. Lincoln
and St. Paul’s (London) developed this further, Lincoln especially adumbrating
future 1aste, for in the Angel choir are not only huge traceried windows and arcading
on blank walls and the use of coloured marble and stained glass, but also the
sculptured figures of angels in the triforium spandrels. Colour and figure sculpture
are essential elements in the Decorated style. Other characteristics can be found in
late thirteenth-century buildings elsewhere: the chapter houses of York and
Southwell have the open space defined by intense decoration, which was to be a
preoccupation of the fourteenth century<7>; and certain works of the 1290s
provided the decorative repertory of the next few decades.

In the 1290s an artistic revolution occurred mainly outside the context of large
buildings, and, as one might expect, in the leading lay and ecclesiastical circles of the
day. Edward I busied himself with building memorial crosses to mark the stopping
places on the route taken by the funeral cortege of Eleanor of Castille between
Lincoln and London; he also built several magnificent tombs in what thus became
the family mausoleum in Westminster abbey; and he refounded the chapel of St.
Stephen in the Palace of Westminster<s>. In the space of ten years a great change
was wrought on the superficial appearance of things.

Leaving St. Stephen’s chapel for later, it is worth looking more closely at the
tombs and crosses, for many of their component details were to become leitmotifs of
the Decorated style. Each of the surviving crosses is different, but they are different
in the same way. The Northampton cross at Hardingstone (Pl. 3) may be taken as



exemplar. The base is a two-tier hexagon, below a square bleck which supported the
cross-shaft. The lowest level has an arch-and-gable motif, with a pinnacle between
each. The gable is crested with foliage, the arch has continuous mouldings and
geometric tracery. Each has a heraldic shield and a sculptured open book. The upper
tier, behind an elaborate cornice, consists of open tabernacles, each with a carved
figure of the queen. These are again in the form of arch-and-gable separated by
pinnacles. Here, however, the arch has a slightly reversed curve, the gable is filled
with foliage, and a second, block-like gable sits behind and above it. There is more
foliage cresting here, too. The square base to the cross-shaft has more pinnacles,
blind tracery motifs with continuous mouldings, gables and behind them a series of
blind panels. The other crosses have details which do not appear here, but which
occur on the tombs built at the same time for Westminster abbey.

Although the tombs are more varied than the crosses, one will have to represent
them all. Edward I entombed his father and his first wife beside the shrine of Edward
the Confessor behind the high altar, and at the same time or shortly after tombs were
made in the sanctuary for Edward’s brother, Edmund Crouchback, and his first
wife, Aveline. Crouchback’s tomb (Pl. 4) is a developed form of Eleanor’s. It fills a
whole bay between two sanctuary pillars, and the enormous open canopy divides the
sarcophagus into three, with the effigy in the middle part. The box is decorated with
the small, lively figures of weepers, with a row of shields above them showing the
family and lineage of the deceased. The weepers stand in niches formed of the arch-
and-gable, with pinnacles, continuous mouldings and foliage cresting. The canopy is
a masterpiece of miniature architecture. The three sets of gables are divided by
pinnacles rising through several tiers and decorated with miniature battlements.
These, together with the bead-and-reel at the neck of the huge fleuron of the central
gable, were to become leitmotifs of the Decorated style. The side gables have blobs of
foliage in circles, and taller gables rise behind them. The central gable has pedestals
for statues and is covered in rosette diaper, reflecting the decoration of the abbey
building itself. Very slight ogee curves appear in the blind tracery and the foliage is
beginning to resemble seaweed.

Recent restoration of the sanctuary tombs revealed an aspect one is inclined to
overlook: the colour. Decoration was applied to every surface which could hold it.
The bundles of shafts supporting the gables were painted with sets of tiny lions
alternating with fleurs de lys. Gilding was used copiously. Gesso was made up to look
like marble, glass to imitate enamel. Everything was done to make this and the other
tombs into glittering jewelled objects.

The Hardingstone cross and Crouchback tomb can be described either as large
sculpture or as miniature architecture. They fall into a class of object which has the
characteristics of both, displaying the ambiguity which seems to permeate the
Decorated style. Together or separately they show certain features: a polygonal
groundplan, surface decoration and detail, the love of overlapping forms, figure
sculpture, the combination of several materials in one object, and the use of faked



materials to give the impression of great luxury. Not only was this economical, it was
also illusionistic, and we shall find illusionism again. The style is miniaturistic,
closely related to metalwork: the shrine of St. John of Beverley, ordered from a
London goldsmith in 1292, was to have plates and columns like masonry, to be
covered in figures, and to have tabernacles and pinnacles both in front and on the
back<e>. Its resemblance both to surviving contemporary shrines and to the
Westminster tombs is quite apparent.

The makers of the tombs and crosses were mostly the masons employed about
Westminster by the king. Known as the Kentish masons because they have Kentish
names, they found their creative inspiration in France. This aspect will be left until
the end of the discussion, for it is important now to see how the style spread.

It should be emphasised that these royal works were on display. The tombs
would have been at least partly visible to visitors at the shrine of St. Edward, and one
of Eleanor’s two other tombs, which closely resembled the L.ondon one, was in the
Lady chapel at Lincoln cathedral<ie>. The Eleanor crosses were spaced at intervals
across the east midlands and northern Home Counties, visible to all who passed that
way. Other, similar, objects quickly adopted their characteristics, and some, indeed,
may have anticipated them. The series of so-called Court tombs<11>, beginning
with Canterbury and Ely in the 1290s, through Winchelsea to Beverley in the 1340s
(P1. 1), shared and developed the style of the Westminster tombs and were all,
naturally, made for grandees. The bishop’s throne and sedilia at Exeter and the tomb
of Edward II at Gloucester (Pl. 5) transformed the canopies into delicated birdcages,
each in its relation of part to part a further exploration of spatial depth. Shrine bases,
many of which were renewed in the years around 1300<12>, were eminently suited
to the applied motifs: the shrine of St. Alban, made by 1308<13>, has the arch-and-
gable with continuous mouldings, foliage cresting and blobs, pinnacles, and
decoration including ogival tracery and figure sculpture. The shrine of St. Edburga,
now at Stanton Harcourt, has nodding ogees dating from ¢.1310, among the earliest
surviving examples of such a feature<14>. Nodding ogees were possibly adumbrated
at St. Stephen’s Westminster<is>, but whether or not these are directly Court
inspired, it is worth remarking in passing that many details of mature Decorated
flourished vigorously a long way from Westminster and almost certainly developed
independently: an example is the flowing tracery of Lincolnshire and Yorkshire.

If the motifs of the Decorated style were spread by things which were not strictly
architecture, how was the transition made to a monumental scale? It was presumably
encouraged by current ideas about the nature of the church building. If
contemporaries could see the Sainte-Chapelle in Paris as a large stone reliquary<ie>,
and reliquaries themselves were ever more closely resembling church buildings, it
did not take much imagination to merge the one with the other. The polygonal
groundplan of the Hardingstone cross is matched by the interest in polygons shown
in for instance the Lady Chapel at Wells, which is an elongated octagon, and another
irregular octagon, the new crossing at Ely cathedral (PL. 6). It is also found in
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